1958

Original Brief submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services through the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library, and sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors. Hanson, Baldwin and Allen; Walter L. Budge; Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 27th day of November, 1956, an individual named Dick A. Channel purchased a 1956 Dodge automobile from the Goffe Motor Company in Pueblo, Colorado (Tr. 4).

Dick A. Channel, at that time, made a down payment of Eight Hundred Seventy Eight Dollars and Eighty Five Cents (\$878.85) on said vehicle and executed a chattel mort-

gage for the balance due of Two Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty Three Dollars and Thirty Six Cents (\$2,763.36) (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1).

On or about said same day the chattel mortgage executed upon Mr. Channel's Dodge motor car was assigned, sold and delivered to the Plaintiff in this action (Tr. 5, Line 29 to Tr. 7, Line 6).

On the same day of the sale of the Dodge Car to Dick A. Channel, the Goffe Motor Company executed a bill of sale to the purchaser at that time (Tr. 7, Lines 16 to 30).

On or about the 7th day of December, 1956, it came to the attention of the Goffe Motor Company in Pueblo, Colorado, that Dick A. Channel had been guilty of certain peculations and had left town with the mortgaged automobile. It was then that the Goffe Motor Company procured recordation of the chattel mortgage covering said vehicle with the office of the County Recorder of Pueblo County, Colorado (Tr. 13, Lines 4 to 28).

Plaintiff corporation, to this day, has received no money upon the mortgage it purchased (Tr. 68, Line 26 to Tr. 69, Line 17).

On the 29th day of December, 1956, Defendant Motor Company agreed to purchase the Dodge vehicle from Dick A. Channel for the sum of Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000.00). One Thousand Three Hundred Dollars (\$1,300.00) was thus paid to Defendant pursuant to the terms of this agreement, and the balance of Seven Hundred Dollars (\$700.00) was never paid because Dick A. Channel has not been heard from

since. (Defendant's Answers to Interrogatories, Question No. 2).

On December 29, 1956, when Defendant Motor Company purchased the Dodge vehicle, Dick A. Channel showed the bill of sale covering said vehicle to Mr. Larson, the person that handled the transaction for Defendant Motor Company. The bill of sale, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, was mutilated at the time it was received by Defendant car dealer (Tr. 59, Line 4 to Tr. Line 60, Line 14).

The mutilation done upon the bill of sale that was taken by Defendant Motor Company as evidence of title in Dick A. Channel was a cutting so that the place for recordation of lien was missing from the bill of sale (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 and Tr. 60, Lines 11 to 14).

An exact duplicate copy of subject bill of sale was offered and received in evidence so that the trier of fact and the trier of law could examine same to see the condition, originally, of a bill of sale used in the state of Colorado for purposes of comparison to determine the extent of mutilation (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 and Tr. 8, Lines 14 to 27).

On December 31, 1956, Defendant was advised that the Plaintiff in this action claimed security interest in and to said Dodge vehicle (Defendant's Answers to Interrogatories, Question No. 4).

On the 7th day of January, 1957, the managing agent of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation, in writing, informed Mr. Randy Larson, of Defendant Motor Company, that Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation claimed security interest

in said vehicle (Plaintiff's Exhibit 14, and Tr. 66, Lines 7 to 21).

Despite Defendant Corporation's notice and knowledge that Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation claimed security interest in the vehicle, the Defendant, through the mistake of employees of the State Tax Commission of Utah, obtained Utah Certificate of Title upon said vehicle (Tr. 46, Lines 3 to 5). The Trial Judge refused to permit Mr. Philip Proctor, the assistant director of the motor vehicle division, State Tax Commission of the State of Utah, to testify that it would not be in the normal or usual course of practice in his office to issue Utah Certificate of Title upon Colorado bill of sale that was obviously mutilated. Appellant claims that refusal to permit Mr. Proctor to so testify was error. The question propounded of Mr. Proctor upon which objection of Defendant was sustained is to be found at Tr. 54, Lines 9 to 25).

Mr. Scott Thorne, an employee of the Utah State Tax Commission, who in fact approved the issuance of the Utah Certificate of Title upon the Dick A. Channel vehicle, was called as a witness by the Defendant Corporation. That witness, Scott Thorne, examined the mutilated bill of sale and stated that he would not, upon examination of that document, issue Utah Certificate of Title (Tr. 81, Lines 4 to 6, and Tr. 81, Lines 11 and 12).

On February 12, 1957, Defendant, knowing of the security interest of Plaintiff Corporation in the Dodge vehicle, sold it for the sum of Two Thousand Three Hundred Forty Nine Dollars (\$2,349.00). (Defendant's Answer to Interrogatories No. 6).

The attorney for the Plaintiff Corporation and the attorneys for Defendant stipulated and agreed at the trial that after the purchase of the Dodge vehicle by Defendant, and prior to the time that the vehicle was sold, Plaintiff-Appellant's attorney requested Defendant to return the vehicle to Plaintiff Corporation, which was not done (Tr. 19, Lines 14 to 28).

Plaintiff filed this action, claiming that Defendant Corporation had converted its security interest in said vehicle to its own use and benefit.

The case was pre-tried before the Honorable A. H. Ellett and at the pre-trial, Defendant claimed it was a bona fide purchaser of subject vehicle up to the sum of One Thousand Three Hundred Dollars (\$1,300.00), the amount it had paid to Dick A. Channel, and at the pre-trial, Defendant Corporation acknowledged and agreed that it was indebted to Plaintiff Corporation for \$895.30, said sum being its proceeds over and above cost, and costs of sale.

The matter was tried before a jury on the 25th day of March, 1958, but at the conclusion of testimony upon behalf of Plaintiff, the Trial Judge directed the jury to return a verdict in favor of Defendant and against the Plaintiff, no cause of action, which presumably also constitutes a remand of the pre-trial Order made and entered before the trial of the cause as to the Plaintiff's entitlement to the Eight Hundred Ninety Five Dollars Thirty Cents (\$895.30).

It is from the directed verdict of the Trial Court that this appeal is taken.

The laws of the State of Colorado, in order to afford con-

structive notice protection for mortgagees, requires that a chattel mortgage upon a motor vehicle, together with an old certificate of title, be filed with the County Clerk of the County of sale. The County Clerk then forwards the certificate of title to the State Tax Commission of the State of Colorado for issuance of a new certificate with proper notation of lien recorded upon said new certificate of title. Plaintiff-Appellant makes no claim that there was proper compliance with the Colorado Mortgage Statute to furnish it with the protection of constructive notice. Plaintiff-Appellant's sole claim is that under the circumstances herein involved, Defendant Corporation had actual notice of the outstanding claim of Plaintiff Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation and the Defendant Corporation is not entitled to benefits as a bona fide purchaser for value, without notice of the superior claim of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation.

POINT I.

KNOWLEDGE SUFFICIENT TO PUT A PURCHASER UPON NOTICE OF AN OUTSTANDING LIEN UPON PERSONAL PROPERTY DEPRIVES SUCH PURCHASER OF THE RIGHTS OF A BONA FIDE PURCHASER FOR VALUE, IF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY PURCHASED IS ENCUMBERED, AND REASONABLE INQUIRY WOULD HAVE REVEALED AN OUTSTANDING LIEN AGAINST THE PROPERTY PURCHASED.

It is clear from the evidence adduced at the trial that a Utah Certificate of Title could not have issued upon the Dodge

vehicle purchased by Dick A. Channel, upon which Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation had a mortgage, unless a Colorado bill of sale was presented to the Tax Commission together with application for new title (Tr. 52, Lines 1 to 8).

It is equally clear that Dick A. Channel showed his bill of sale to the agent for Courtesy Motor Company upon selling his vehicle to them, and the bill of sale was then in the form it is now, mutilated (Tr. 60, Lines 8 to 14).

At this point, it becomes important for the Court to have before it the mutilated bill of sale, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, and to compare an un mutilated form, which is the form denominated Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

There follows an exact replica duplication of Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 and Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

DEALER'S BILL OF SALE FOR NEW OR USED MOTOR VEHICLES

Date of Sale. November 27 19 56~~EXHIBIT~~ P-2~~CASE NO.~~ 11218For value received the undersigned, a Colorado Licensed Motor Vehicle Dealer does hereby sell, assign and convey unto
Dick A. Channel 1020 W. 15th Pueblo, Colorado(If Colo. M.V.D.)
(License No.) and does hereby warrant title to the NEW ☐ or USED ☒ vehicle described on the reverse side hereof, and that the vehicle is subject to liens or encumbrances, or not, as shown thereon.Dealer's
Lic. No. 81 DEALER GOFFE MOTOR COMPANY AUTHORIZED
Agent. John A. WilsonSTATE OF COLORADO, } On this 27th day of November, 19 56 beforeCounty of Pueblo } ss. me, a Notary Public, in and for said County, personally appearedJohn A. Wilson for Goffe Motor Company

and who is personally known to me, and makes oath that the matters set forth in the foregoing statement are true.

My commission expires August 2, 19 60

(SEAL)

Wilma H. Sumner
Notary Public

STATE OF COLORADO

APPLICATION FOR A TITLE FOR A MOTOR VEHICLE

MAKE Dodge TITLE NUMBER C
 YEAR 1956 MODEL D63 COUNTY Pueblo
 BODY TYPE Clb Coupe MOTOR NO. _____
 WEIGHT 3505 MFGRS. NO. 3502 4577
 LIST PRICE \$ 2424.00 CAPACITY: _____
 DATE PURCHASED 11-27-56 BUS OR TRUCK _____
 FIRST SOLD 2-13-56
 NAME OF OWNER Dick A. Channel
 ADDRESS 1020 W. 15th St.
 CITY Pueblo STATE Colorado
 FROM WHOM PURCHASED GOFFE MOTOR COMPANY
 ADDRESS 7th and Court St., Pueblo

STATE OF COLORADO

County of _____

} ss.

I, _____

whose address is _____

 _____, upon oath,
 depose and say:

That I am the owner, or duly authorized agent of the owner of the motor vehicle described herein; that the matters set forth in said application are true of my own knowledge; and that said motor vehicle describ

(Reverse Side)

EXHIBIT 2.

DEALER'S BILL OF SALE FOR NEW OR USED MOTOR VEHICLE ~~112198~~ P-3

Date of Sale November 27 19 56

For value received the undersigned, a Colorado Licensed Motor Vehicle Dealer does hereby sell, assign and ~~convey~~ to
Dick A. Channel 1020 W. 15th St. Pueblo, Colorado

ASE NO. 112198

(If Colo. M.V.D.)
 (License No.) and does hereby warrant title to the NEW ☐ or USED ☒ vehicle described on the reverse side hereof, and that the vehicle is subject to liens or encumbrances, or not, as shown thereon.

Dealer's 81 DEALER GOFFE MOTOR COMPANY AUTHORIZED Agent John A. Wilson

STATE OF COLORADO, }
 County of Pueblo } ss. On this 27th day of November, 19 58 before
John A. Wilson me, a Notary Public, in and for said County, personally appeared
for Goffe Motor Company

and who is personally known to me, and makes oath that the matters set forth in the foregoing statement are true.
 My commission expires Aug. 1, 19 60.

(SEAL)

Wilma H. J. J. J.
 Notary Public.

AFFIDAVIT OF PHYSICAL INSPECTION

The following affidavit must be filled out if the motor vehicle is registered or titled in a state other than Colorado, or before a Special Colorado Identification Number is issued to any motor vehicle or trailer. The motor and manufacturer's (ID) number must be inspected and verified by a Law Enforcement Officer, Licensed Colorado Dealer or Official Inspection Station.

This is to certify that I have made a physical inspection of the motor and manufacturer's numbers of a

Year Make Model Licensed by State of License No.

and find the correct motor number to be and the correct ID. No. to be

Signature of Inspecting Officer

Official Title

Date

Name of Garage or Official Inspection Station

Address

License No.

PLAINTI
 (Front Side)

STATE OF COLORADO

APPLICATION FOR A TITLE FOR A MOTOR VEHICLE

MAKE Dodge TITLE NUMBER C
 YEAR 1956 MODEL D63 COUNTY Pueblo
 BODY TYPE Custom Royal CC Lancer MOTOR NO. D633 36546
 WEIGHT 3505 MFGRS. NO. 35024577
 LIST PRICE \$ 2693.00 CAPACITY:
 DATE PURCHASED 11-27-56 BUS OR TRUCK
 DATE FIRST SOLD 2-15-56
 NAME OF OWNER Dick A. Channel
 ADDRESS 1020 W. 15th St.
 CITY Pueblo STATE Colorado
 FROM WHOM PURCHASED Goffe Motor Company
 ADDRESS 7th and Court, Pueblo, Colorado
 VEHICLE IS SUBJECT TO LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE (YES OR NO) YES
 FIRST LIEN IN FAVOR OF UCIT Corporation
 ADDRESS 401 N. Main, Pueblo, Colorado
 DATE OF LIEN 11227-56 AMOUNT OF LIEN \$ 2763.36
 AMOUNT OUTSTANDING \$ 2763.36 RECORDED Pueblo COUNTY
 2ND LIEN IN FAVOR OF _____
 ADDRESS _____
 DATE OF LIEN _____ AMOUNT OF LIEN \$ _____
 AMOUNT OUTSTANDING \$ _____ RECORDED _____ COUNTY
 PREVIOUS TITLE NO. C 125211 COUNTY Weld
 DATE APPLICATION ACCEPTED _____

STATE OF COLORADO

County of _____

ss.

I, _____

whose address is _____

_____, upon oath,
depose and say:

That I am the owner, or duly authorized agent of the owner of the motor vehicle described herein; that the matters set forth in said application are true of my own knowledge; and that said motor vehicle described herein is subject only to the lien or liens noted in said application.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____

day of _____ A. D. 19 _____

My commission expires _____

County Clerk or Notary Public.

Riverside Printing Co. — Pueblo

Counsel for Appellant feels that his comments upon the obvious condition of mutilation of the subject bill of sale in this matter would be redundant. An agent for a motor car dealer who deals in vehicles and knows the import of bills of sale would, at a mere glance, know that Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 was an incomplete document. That document should certainly be a red flag to any prudent person, and a fortiori, an automobile dealer.

Under the facts of this case and under the law recognized in all jurisdictions, had the bill of sale been complete and fair upon its face the Defendant purchaser would have been apprised of the lien rights of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation, and the same could have been affirmed by calling the County Recorder of Pueblo County, Colorado. At this point, in the event that there had been no recordation of the mortgage in Pueblo County, then it might be arguable that the Defendant purchaser would be entitled to purchase free of claim.

However, the obvious condition of mutilation of the bill of sale absolutely put Defendant purchaser upon notice that something was wrong, and it was put upon duty of inquiry. Inquiry to the selling dealer, Goffe Motor Company in Pueblo, Colorado, or to the Pueblo County Recorder would have revealed the claim of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation, as said mortgage was recorded on December 7, 1956, and Defendant purchaser did not have any dealings of any kind or nature with Dick A. Channel before the 29th day of December, 1956.

Appellant contends that under the circumstances of this

case, Courtesy Motor Company is not a bona fide purchaser for value, because of its chargeability of knowledge and duty of inquiry. It dealt with that car at its peril.

The language to be found at 39 Am. Jur. 238, substantiates Appellants' position in this matter:

"Means of knowledge and knowledge itself, are, in legal effect, the same thing where there is enough to put a party upon inquiry. Knowledge which one has or ought to have under the circumstances is imputed to him. When a party has information or knowledge of certain extraneous facts which of themselves do not amount to, nor tend to show, an actual notice, but which are sufficient to put a reasonably prudent man upon an inquiry respecting a conflicting interest, claim, or right, and the circumstances are such that the inquiry, if made and followed up with reasonable care and diligence, would lead to the discovery of the truth, to a knowledge of the interest, claim, or right which really exists, then the party is absolutely charged with a constructive notice of such interest, claim or right. In other words, whatever fairly puts a person on inquiry is sufficient notice where the means of knowledge are at hand; and if he omits to inquire, he is then chargeable with all the facts, which, by a proper inquiry, he might have ascertained. A person has no right to shut his eyes or his ears to avoid information, and then say that he had no notice. He does wrong not to heed the signs and signals seen by him. It will not do to remain wilfully ignorant of a thing readily ascertainable, and it is no excuse for failure to make an inquiry, that if made, it might have failed to develop the truth. IT HAS BEEN SAID THAT WANT OF ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE IN SUCH A CASE IS A SPECIES OF FRAUD — WHEN ONE HAS ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF SUCH FACTS

AS WOULD PUT A PRUDENT MAN ON INQUIRY, IT BECOMES HIS DUTY TO MAKE INQUIRY, AND HE IS GUILTY OF BAD FAITH IF HE NEGLECTS TO DO SO, AND CONSEQUENTLY HE WILL BE CHARGED WITH THE ACTUAL NOTICE HE WOULD HAVE RECEIVED IF HE HAD MADE INQUIRY.” (Emphasis supplied).

It is Appellant’s position that the question of sufficiency of the notice required to reasonably put a person on inquiry is a matter of law to be decided by the Court. It would appear that the Trial Court in this matter decided as a matter of law that the mutilated bill of sale did not constitute such notice as would put a reasonable man upon inquiry, but, to the contrary, ruled that there was no notice of any kind or nature, not even for the jury to determine.

That position seems incredible. It was admitted by the person that handled the transaction for Courtesy Motors, Inc., that he examined the mutilated bill of sale in the form it was in at the trial of this case (Tr. 59, Line 4 to Tr. 60, Line 14). The name of Goffe Motor Company, the selling dealer, appeared upon the un mutilated portion of the bill of sale and the simple expedient of making a phone call to that dealer would have revealed Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation’s security interest (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2). Or a phone call to the County Recorder of Pueblo County would have revealed to Courtesy Motor Company the security interest, as such mortgage had been recorded 22 days previous to the transaction herein complained of (Tr. 13, Lines 4 to 28).

In view of the foregoing, it seems abundantly clear that Defendant Motor Company could not possibly be a bona fide

purchaser for value, without notice of the claim of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation. On the contrary, it was put upon duty of inquiry on the 29th day of December, 1956, when it examined the obviously mutilated bill of sale. On December 31, 1956, Defendant Company was further informed of the security interest claimed in the Dodge vehicle. Again, on the 7th day of January, 1957, Defendant Corporation was put upon notice, this time in writing, (Plaintiff's Exhibit 14). And again, it is admitted that subsequent to that date and prior to the time that Defendant Corporation sold the vehicle, that the attorney for Appellant Corporation requested an immediate return of the vehicle (Stipulation Tr. 19, Lines 14 to 28).

It is Appellant's position that on the 29th day of December, 1956, Defendant, having been put upon positive duty of inquiry because of the condition of the bill of sale, committed a conversion of the security interest of Plaintiff in the motor vehicle. On December 31, it was again advised of Plaintiff's security interest and Defendant Corporation continued to exercise unauthorized dominion and control over Plaintiff's security, which again constituted conversion. Again, prior to sale, when Plaintiff's counsel requested return of the vehicle it committed conversion.

It should be apparent to the Honorable Court that Defendant Motor Company had absolutely no regard for the rights of Plaintiff in this matter and it should be made to pay the full amount of the security interest of Plaintiff in said Dodge vehicle which was Two Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty Three Dollars and Thirty Six Cents (\$2,763.36).

CONCLUSION

Defendant Motor Car Company dealt with the security of Plaintiff with actual knowledge of the encumbrance of Universal C. I. T. Credit Corporation at all times. Actual knowledge should be imputed to Defendant from the inception of its dealings because of the condition of the mutilated bill of sale. Defendant is not a bona fide purchaser, and it should be compelled to pay the sum of Two Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty Three Dollars and Thirty Six Cents (\$2,763.36) to Plaintiff because of its conversion of Plaintiff's security, and its wanton continuation of dominion and control of the vehicle with full knowledge of Plaintiff's interest in the same.

The Defendant could acquire only the interest of the seller, which was nil, because no payments were ever made on the mortgage by the seller.