1958

Universal C. I. T. Credit Corp. v. Courtesy Motors, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

UNDER THE PECULIAR CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE, COURTESY OWED NO DUTY TO C.I.T. WHICH COULD SERVE AS A BASIS FOR APPELLANT'S ACTION IN TORT.

In selling the automobile to Channel, Goffe failed to follow the statutory procedures by which it could have protected itself and any assignee of the mortgage executed by Channel. Having bungled the transaction and permitted itself to be deceived by Channel, Goffe, has sought to pass the resulting damage to Courtesy. The deal with Channel was closed on November 27, 1956. (R. 25) Channel took possession of the automobile on December 1, 1956, and received all of the documents needed by him to apply for title in his own name, free and clear of all encumbrances. (R. 39)

Goffe made no effort whatsoever to see that a new title was issued in Channel's name evidencing the mortgage to either Goffe Motor Company or appellant. Had Goffe followed the provisions of Section 13(19) of Chapter 16 of the 1935 Colorado Statutes Annotated, 1953, Cumulative Supplement (Ex. D-8), this case would never have arisen. Channel would not have been in a position to deceive any one. He would never have received in his own hands the means of securing a clear title to the automobile, free from all encumbrances. Goffe would have presented the documents to the proper county official contemplated in said Section 13(19) and in due course a new title would have issued to Channel, showing the lien in favor of appellant.

John A. Wilson, the general manager of Goffe (R. 24) admitted at the trial that Goffe has now changed its procedure to comply with the statutory requirements and thereby protect the interests of the finance company involved. (R. 58)

In addition, Goffe on November 27, 1956, accepted a post-dated check from Channel. (R. 49) The company purported to assign the mortgage executed by Channel to C.I.T., representing that the down payment as indicated had been made, when, in fact, it had nothing but a promise to pay evidenced by the post-dated check. (Ex. D-6, R. 49)

When Channel left the state it became impossible to record the mortgage in such a manner as to give constructive notice thereof to any subsequent purchaser of the vehicle. The above mentioned Section 13(19) could not be complied with. At that time, neither Goffe nor C.I.T. could comply with the provisions of Section 13(19) of Chapter 16 of the 1935 Colorado Statutes Annotated. That section sets forth in detail the procedure to be followed by the holder of any chattel mortgage on the motor vehicle desiring to secure to himself the protective rights afforded. No claim has ever been made that Courtesy had *constructive* notice of the mortgage claimed by C.I.T. by virtue of the ineffectual recording thereof. C.I.T. has merely claimed that Courtesy had *implied* notice of the same by reason of being put upon a duty of inquiry because of a very artful mutilation of the bill of sale. (R. 18)

A study of testimony adduced at the trial makes it aparent that C.I.T. is actually not the party in interest. While it is claimed it paid \$2,000.00 for the Channel mortgage, it is evident that Goffe misrepresented the transaction and the document to the appellant by stating that it had received a down payment of \$853.85, and that the transaction was recorded as a legal transaction and that title would issue showing C.I.T. as lien-holder. (Ex. P-1) Wilson hedged when asked about repayment to appellant (R. 50-51), and never did say that Goffe *would not* refund the \$2,000.00 to the appellant.

This is a case where Goffe by its own negligent conduct made it possible for Channel to deceive Courtesy. Had Goffe exercised the ordinary and reasonable care becoming a dealer in motor vehicles and complied with the statutory requirements for filing the mortgage of record, neither the appellant nor the respondent would have been injured.

Courtesy had no contractual relationship with Goffe or C.I.T. and no knowledge whatsoever of the mortgage.

This is an action in tort. What duty did Courtesy owe to Universal C.I.T. Credit Corporation?

POINT II.

COURTESY, AT THE TIME THE AUTOMOBILE IN QUESTION WAS SOLD TO CHANNEL, HAD NO NOTICE, ACTUAL OR IMPLIED, OF ANY EQUITY OF C.I.T. IN THE SAID AUTOMOBILE. ON THIS ISSUE REASONABLE MINDS COULD NOT DIFFER AND THE TRIAL COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN GRANTING THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

A comparison of the bill of sale from Goffe to Channel, Exhibit P-2, which was delivered to Courtesy, and Exhibit P-3, the complete Colorado form, indicates that Exhibit P-2 has been very skillfully and artfully cut in two. In granting the motion of Courtesy for a directed verdict, the trial judge in effect held that the evidence was such that reasonable minds could not differ in believing that Courtesy had no actual notice of any interest of C.I.T. in the vehicle, and in believing that the cutting of Exhibit 2 was so skillful that any reasonable person would be deceived.

As already noted, there was no such recordation in compliance with the statutory requirements of Colorado as to give constructive notice to any third party of the outstanding mortgage on the vehicle. See again the requirements of Section 13(19) of Chapter 16 of the 1935 Colorado Statutes Annotated (1953 Cumulative Supplement). An examination of said Exhibit P-2 reveals how skillfully the instrument was cut, so as to remove any and all trace of the lien information.

A person trained in the law and skilled in the use of legal verbiage might recognize the incompleteness of Exhibit P-2, but those who handled the documents were not so trained. The evidence shows, however, that those who handled the instrument were without exception de-

ceived by what had been done. Randy Larson, an experienced salesman for Courtesy, knew only the bare requirements for a valid bill of sale. He had never seen such a Colorado document before. He thought the instrument contained the requisites of a valid bill of sale. He did not know the precise wording of the same, and assumed it was sufficient. He was looking for names, signatures and a notarization. (R. 84, 85)

Scott Thorne, an employee of the State Tax Commission, also had occasion to pass on the sufficiency of the bill of sale. He testified that title documents are always examined to determine the validity of the title of the applicant, and that these documents were passed upon and accepted by him and the vehicle thereupon retitled in the name of Courtesy. (R. 99, 100)

These trained and experienced personnel were misled and deceived by Exhibit P-2. None of them noticed that the lien information had been severed therefrom. The trial court was fully justified in view of such evidence in concluding that reasonable minds could not differ in believing that any reasonable person would be fooled thereby. The respondent's motion for a directed verdict was properly granted.

POINT III.

IF THE EVIDENCE ON THE QUESTION OF THE RESPONDENT'S IMPLIED NOTICE OF THE INTEREST OF C.I.T. IN THE SAID AUTOMOBILE WERE SUCH THAT REASONABLE MINDS COULD DIFFER, THEN THE QUESTION OF IMPLIED NOTICE IS NOT ONE FOR THE COURT BUT IS A QUESTION FOR THE JURY.

It is axiomatic that when facts are uncontradicted, or where but one conclusion or inference is reasonably possible from the evidence so that reasonable minds would draw the same conclusions therefrom, the question becomes one of law for the trial court. See 88 C.J.S. Trial, Sec. 210; *Eklund v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.*, 89 Utah 273, 57 P. (2d) 362; *Wilcox v. Cloward*, 88 Utah 503, 56 P. (2d) 1.

The exercise by the trial court of its discretion in granting the respondent's motion to direct a verdict in its favor should not be disturbed unless such discretion has been abused. 5-A C.J.S. Appeal and Error, Sec. 1612, p. 117.

If the evidence regarding the transaction between Channel and Courtesy Motors, Inc., were such that reasonable men might differ in their belief as to whether Courtesy was put on a duty of inquiry, the case should have been sent to the jury.

Counsel for C.I.T. contends in his brief at page 16 that

“ . . . the question of sufficiency of the notice required to reasonably put a person on inquiry is a matter of law to be decided by the court.”

The appellant, C.I.T., on this appeal is asking the Court to reverse the trial court and enter a judgment in its favor. The evidence in this case justifies no such relief for all who handled Exhibit P-2 were deceived. Now,

if the evidence is such that reasonable minds might differ in their conclusion, the question of whether Courtesy had actual notice, or whether the notice it had was sufficient to put it on a duty of inquiry, is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury to decide. The general rule is stated in 92 C.J.S., Vendor & Purchaser, Sec. 374, p. 309: 309:

“ . . . where the evidence is such that only one conclusion may reasonably be drawn therefrom, the question is for the court, and in such a case it is error for the court to submit the question to the jury. However, questions of fact as to which there is a conflict in the evidence, or the evidence is such that different inferences might reasonably be drawn therefrom, are ordinarily for the jury under proper instructions. Thus, the questions of whether one was an innocent purchaser, bona fides, adequacy of consideration, possession, notice, whether the purchaser was put on inquiry, and whether inquiry would have resulted in notice, are ordinarily for the jury.”

See also *McCarthy v. Lane*, 16 N.E. (2d) 683 (Mass. 1938); *Walker v. Mackey*, 253 P. (2d) 280 (Ore. 1953); *Three Sixty Five Club v. Shostak*, 232 P. (2d) 546 (Cal. 1951).

Certainly there was no basis for appellant's motion for a directed verdict, for without exception everyone that handled the bill of sale, Exhibit P-2, was deceived by

the artful cutting of the document. The trial court was, therefore, justified in denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict and in directing a verdict for respondent, Courtesy.

However, even if the discretion of the trial court were abused in this matter, the appellant's motion should not be granted, but in that event the case, in accordance with the authorities cited, should normally be sent to the jury upon appropriate instructions, except for the reasons set forth in Point No. IV.

POINT IV.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT COURTESY HAS DESTROYED ANY SECURITY INTEREST OF C.I.T. IN THE AUTOMOBILE.

The appellant, C.I.T., has based its action upon the premise that Courtesy has destroyed an alleged security interest in the automobile in question. See Paragraphs 6 and 7 of plaintiff's complaint. (R. 2) Assuming that the appellant had a valid security interest in the vehicle, wherein has the same been destroyed by Courtesy?

There is no question that the respondent, Courtesy purchased the automobile in question from Channel. That fact is admitted. But that does not of itself destroy any equity that C.I.T. may have had in the automobile. See *United States v. Rogers & Rogers*, 36 F. Supp. 79 (District Ct., D. Minnesota, 1941), Appeal dismissed 121 F. (2d) 1019; *Midland Nat. Bank & Trust Co. v. Peterson*, 281 N.W. 683 (Wis., 1938); *Louden v. Cooper*, 100 P. (2d) 42 (Wash., 1940).

Courtesy, in its Answers to Interrogatories No. 6, (R. 8), has advised C.I.T. that the automobile was subsequently sold to one Lavell Witney, 155 Second Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah, on February 12, 1957. Even this additional fact does not constitute any destruction of the security interest of C.I.T. in the vehicle and give rise to a cause of action. See *United States v. Rogers & Rogers*, supra; *Midland Nat. Bank & Trust Co. v. Petersen*, supra; *Louden v. Cooper*, supra.

“It is elementary that before a tort can be committed there must be an invasion of a legal right. ***

“. . . neither the sale by the mortgagor of property subject to a chattel mortgage nor a subsequent sale by his vendee constitute conversion of the property described in the chattel mortgage.” *United States v. Rogers & Rogers*, supra.

Has the automobile itself been destroyed? No. Has the mortgage of C.I.T. (assuming its validity) been destroyed? No, it was admitted in evidence. (Ex. P-1) Does the security interest in the automobile arising from the mortgage still exist in favor of C.I.T.? Certainly, unless cut off by a bona fide purchaser.

The only possible way that any security interest of C.I.T. would be destroyed in this case is through a purchase of the automobile by a bona fide purchaser. But if

Courtesy is such a purchaser, as it so claims to be, then there can be no cause of action against Courtesy. 92 C.J.S. Vendor & Purchaser, Sec. 367, p. 300. On the other hand, if Lavell Whitney purchased the vehicle subject to the mortgage or knew of the same and was thus not a bona fide purchaser—and *there is no evidence that such is not the case* — then there is no reason why the appellant could not foreclose its chattel mortgage and be made whole. No security interest of C.I.T. would be destroyed.

It is elementary that C.I.T., as plaintiff in this action, assumes the burden of proving its case. If it has a valid mortgage there is nothing to show that it cannot now proceed to foreclose the same. Until C.I.T. has made such an effort, and it is shown that its security interest in the automobile is destroyed as alleged, there is no showing that it has suffered any damage whatsoever at the hands of Courtesy. Until the vehicle has been placed beyond the reach of C.I.T. it cannot complain of injury. *Louden v. Cooper*, *supra*.

These circumstances alone were justification enough for the trial court to grant the respondent's motion for a directed verdict.

SUMMARY

In summary, Courtesy Motors, Inc., contends that any damage to C.I.T. resulting in this case is due to the bungling, negligent conduct of Goffe. It is doubtful that C.I.T. is even the real party in interest. In any event, Courtesy Motors, Inc., is a bona fide purchaser of the automobile and was therefore justified in re-selling the

same. It had no constructive notice of any mortgage in favor of C.I.T. nor was Courtesy Motors, Inc., put on any duty of inquiry by reason of the cutting of the original bill of sale Ex. P-2. On this latter issue, the Court was justified in concluding that reasonable minds would not differ.

If the trial court abused its discretion and reasonable minds would differ as to the existence of Courtesy's duty of further inquiry, then the case normally should have gone to the jury upon appropriate instructions, except, however, that even if Courtesy had a duty of inquiry and in the exercise of that duty would have discovered the mortgage in favor of C.I.T., still, there has been no destruction of any security interest of C.I.T. in the vehicle. The automobile and its last purchaser are in Salt Lake City, Utah. C.I.T. can, if it has a valid mortgage, proceed to foreclose the same.

The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

McKAY & BURTON

By

MACOY A. McMURRAY

*Attorneys for Defendant and
Respondent, Courtesy Motors,
Inc.*

720 Newhouse Building
Salt Lake City, Utah